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Preface


Since I was about five years old I have kept a diary. Though I am now eighty, most of these have survived my many adventures and travels and sometimes I glance at them to remember with laughter.


Growing up is like entering a jungle where some of the larger creatures look alarming and possible man-eaters; and most of the smaller ones – like insects – go unnoticed. As one grows up the jungle gets denser and so, most likely, do you.


But now I am old and in the Departure Lounge – though certainly still growing up – I look back with amusement at how ‘cock-sure’ I became and how often wrong; so many of those creatures who, at first, looked big and fierce became my life-long friends; so many ‘insects’ turned out to be brilliant, fascinating and kind companions.


My diaries, written mostly at night and always in haste, in nurseries, school rooms, cars, boats, aeroplanes and sometimes in loos, expose how we all arrive, helpless, innocent and ignorant; and then, as we step gingerly into the jungle, show how afraid, selfish, show-off and silly we often are. Mine also prove how lucky I have always been. Most of the creatures in my jungle have been extra special.


Two friends who helped me through thick and thin I never met: Alexander the Great, who said, ‘One must live every day as if it were one’s last, and as if one would live forever, both at the same time,’ and Oscar Wilde, who said, ‘All of us are standing in the gutter but a few of us are looking at the stars.’ These two remarks should get anyone through their jungle.


Then, of course, there was Dan; forever the best human being I’ll ever know.


I have only one regret: that soon the diaries must stop and no longer record – with laughter – what happened next. This is an account of my life during the six years of World War II.




1. The Storm Breaks


Dan Ranfurly and I were married in London on 17 January 1939. We were both twenty-five years old. We had met in Australia in 1937 when he was Aide-de-Camp to Lord Gowrie, the Governor-General, and I was personal Assistant to Lord and Lady Wakehurst, Governor of New South Wales.


When our different terms were up and we met again in Europe we heard much talk of war – Hitler was on the prowl. We knew that England had given a guarantee to Poland but, like most other people, we could not believe that Hitler would risk war with Britain and France. In late August 1939, when the German-Soviet agreement was broadcast to the world, people in the know looked grim but we, and our generation, took little heed. In that lovely hot summer Dan and I left our small flat in London and drove up to the highlands of Scotland for a holiday. The countryside looked more beautiful than ever. We were supremely happy and carefree when we arrived to stay with Joe and Ann Laycock beside Loch Torridon in Ross-shire to fish and stalk deer.


31 August 1939 – Upper Loch Torridon, Scotland


Dan, Andrew the Ghillie and I set off early this morning. We took the mountain track through the wood. Cobwebs glittered on the grass and brambles, rabbits thumped their warnings and hustled away into the bushes.


Soon we began wading up steep heathered hills, catching our toes in roots and tufts, leaving deep marks in the peat hags. Andrew went easily ahead – his rifle slung on his shoulder, his lunch bulging his pocket. Several times I slumped to the ground and looked back at the blue loch water below. I wondered if I was tired after the long drive from London yesterday – or am just lazy. How does one know the difference? I counted three out loud to make myself get up and each time Andrew looked back and grinned.


Presently we reached bare rock and began to climb. It took ages to reach the top. There we lay in the sun and spied for stags through a telescope while we ate our lunch, each with a halo of midges. Deer were grazing in a corrie far beyond and below us, and through the long hot afternoon we made a great detour and stalked them, finally crawling along a burn over shining brown pebbles till we were in range. Dan fired and missed. I was glad – the stag looked so beautiful.


Long after the sun went down we were still walking home. We discussed whether toenails came off after slithering down steep slopes in sodden shoes. They laughed at me for wearing tennis shoes, which I always use for mountains. We talked about our wedding in January and this, our second honeymoon. Andrew told us all about his job and his family.


When we came out of the wood and crossed the lawn it was dusk. Lights were on in the house. We opened the front door and were surprised to see suitcases in the hall. General Joe Laycock came out of his study and for a moment I thought he was going to be cross because we were nearly late for dinner. He looked tired, or older than he did at breakfast. ‘Dear Dan and Hermione, welcome back,’ he said. ‘We are not changing for dinner.’ He hesitated, and then said very slowly – as if it hurt him – ‘I want you to give me a lift in your car at day-break tomorrow. I must go south and so must you. Bob has telephoned from the War Office: the Germans are marching on Poland.’


No one spoke or ate much at dinner and immediately afterwards we went upstairs to pack and go to bed. Soon it will be dawn. Dan is fast asleep. I have counted sheep in vain – they all turned into Germans.


3 September 1939 – Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire


Two days ago we left Torridon. It seems an age. As we stacked our guns, golf-clubs and fishing rods into the back of our Buick, fear pinched my heart: those are the toys of yesterday I thought; they belong to another world. General Laycock, Dan and I sat in front. We hardly spoke. No doubt the General was thinking of his sons, Bob, Peter and Michael, who will all have to go to the war. Questions teemed through my mind: where will Dan’s Yeomanry, the Notts Sherwood Rangers, go? Will I be able to see him? Mummy, ill in hospital in Switzerland – should I fetch her back to England? And Whitaker – our cook-butler – perhaps he is too old to be a soldier? It was raining. The windscreen wipers ticked to and fro and it seemed as if each swipe brought a new and more horrifying thought to me. We had started on a journey – but to where? And for how long?


We sent a telegram from Inverness to our flat in London and drove on to Edinburgh where we were surprised to find the street lamps out. All night we drove slowly, through thick fog. It was hard to see without headlights. None of us slept.


We dropped the General at his house, Wiseton, near Doncaster, where we ate a hurried breakfast and then drove on to London. Whitaker and Mrs Sparrow, our charlady, were waiting for us, and a telegram from Dan’s Yeomanry saying he must report immediately at Retford in Nottinghamshire. After reading this Dan asked Whitaker if he would like to go with him. The old fatty looked over the top of his spectacles and said, ‘To the War, my Lord? Very good, my Lord.’ Then we started to pack.


Short and stout, his huge face much creased from smiling, Whitaker has many abilities – all self-taught – but I just can’t imagine him going to war on a horse.1


This morning we piled camp beds, saddle and saddle bags into the back of the Buick and started: Dan in uniform, Whitaker in his best navy pinstripe suit and myself in a fuss. We listened to Mr Chamberlain broadcasting that ‘a state of war exists’ as we sped up the Great North Road.


Dan left me here with Hilda, his Mother. She offered him her beautiful chestnut mare to be his second charger and he accepted gratefully. In twenty minutes, he and Whitaker were gone . . .


Thousands of children are being evacuated from London to the country. They, and their parents, must feel as desolate as me.


7 September 1939 – 9 Clarges Street, London, WI


I came to London this morning to fix up our small flat so that we can let it furnished at a moment’s notice if necessary. Mrs Sparrow helped me pack up our few treasures and our wedding presents – it seemed strange to be sending them to store. She asked me all the questions I have been asking myself: How long will it last? Will they bomb London? What shall I do now? I promised her I will ‘let’ her with our flat or not let it at all – so she may be sure of work.


I lunched with Dan’s Grannie Cooper who told me that this morning she put her name down for war work and described herself as ‘Eighty but active’. We talked of Poland. Afterwards I walked to the gun shop in Pall Mall and bought a small .25 Colt revolver. The shopkeeper said I may not take possession of it until I get a licence. Then I went to Whitaker’s flat near the Tottenham Court Road and arranged for all his things to be stored. The piano he was buying on the instalment system from Selfridges will have to be returned. On my way home I bought two ‘safari’ beds made of canvas with slim detachable steel feet. They fold into a neat bundle and are lighter than the old wooden ones. Tomorrow I begin training to be an ambulance driver – in gumboots and gas-mask.


18 September 1939 – Talbot Hotel, Malton, Yorks.


Russian troops have entered Poland. Tragic we can do nothing to help the Poles. Warsaw is being bombed.


The Sherwood Rangers have moved from Retford to Malton in Yorkshire. I managed, by telephone, to book a room in this small hotel. It was their last. Michael Laycock, who is with Dan, had asked me to collect his car from Wiseton together with jerry cans of petrol from their estate pump, and so I went by train to Doncaster and thence by taxi, to pick these up. I found the boot and back seat of Michael’s car crammed with jerry cans and so I borrowed rugs to cover them, and set off slowly on the Great North Road. At Ferrybridge a cyclist shot out of a side road straight across the major road. I swerved and just managed to miss him by inches. He pedalled on furiously and went head-first into iron railings on the far side verge. I stopped, and so did the driver behind me who kindly bore witness that this was not my fault. Police, a doctor and an ambulance arrived quickly and the old cyclist was rushed to hospital: his face looked ghastly – deeply gashed. The police told me that if he died I would be called as a witness. They did not notice my illicit cargo and I drove on – cold and shivering from shock.


The whole division of cavalry is assembling in and around Malton. A lot of Yeomanry wives have rented houses nearby and Toby Wallace is one of them. She asked Dan and me to dine tonight. She thinks the Sherwood Rangers will be sent abroad soon – to the Near East, as horse cavalry was in the last war. I asked her what she would do then. ‘Go too,’ she said. ‘You and I will go together.’


Toby has a prominent nose and chin and is rather round shouldered hence, perhaps, her name. But she has beautiful eyes and voice and is intelligent and kind. She is braver than me. Dandy, her husband, is very amusing but, I suspect, unreliable. They have two little children and two large houses. Awful she must choose between staying with her children or her husband.


22 September 1939 – Talbot Hotel, Malton, Yorks.


The days seem long because we live in suspense, asking ourselves when the war will end, though it has not really begun. Each hour I expect to hear that the Sherwood Rangers are going overseas. Dan is a Second Lieutenant in ‘C’ Squadron and now has two horses, one requisitioned. He is very busy so I see him only occasionally. His Squadron Leader has asked me to go to York and buy cheap second-hand tables and chairs to furnish their Mess.


I ride whenever I can borrow Dan’s mare. This is lovely country and it is fun to canter over the golden stubble fields and jump stone walls.


Today I was thankful to hear that the old cyclist from Ferrybridge is going to survive. The matron of the hospital told me that his son had been killed on that cross-roads quite recently and the old man had sworn never to stop for a car ever again in his life.


Warsaw must fall soon: it is being bombed incessantly. Hideous news keeps coming about Poland.


29 September 1939 – Talbot Hotel, Malton, Yorks.


Warsaw has surrendered. Poland is being partitioned by Germany and Russia. I telephoned Jan Smeterlin2 in London. He was so upset he could hardly speak. ‘Hold on,’ he said. ‘I’ll put the receiver down on my piano.’ He played me a little sad Chopin and then came back on the line – ‘That’s how I feel,’ he said, and hung up.


Firearm Certificate No. 2802 has arrived from the Leicestershire Police. A note was enclosed: ‘We had a good laugh over your application – ‘‘For use against parachutists’’.’ Now I can collect my revolver and ten rounds of ammunition.


7 October 1939 – East Chisenbury, Wiltshire


Yesterday Dan, Whitaker and I left Malton. We stayed the night in London on our way to Netheravon where Dan is to spend a month doing a machine gun course.


Early this morning we drove to Netheravon in search of a room, a flat, or cottage. It rained incessantly and we spent a depressing day being told by house agents and pubs alike that thousands of soldiers and airmen are being trained on Salisbury Plain, and there was no hope of getting accommodation. Towards 6 p.m., just when we thought we must give up, we saw a notice on a small wooden cottage: ‘To let furnished – apply next door’. The kind owner allowed us to move in then and there. It is a humble place, four miles from Netheravon, but to us it is a palace – two bedrooms, a sitting room, a bath and kitchen. We lit the stove. A few rats belted out of the kitchen into the garden. We are warm, happy, grateful and together.


10 October 1939 – East Chisenbury, Wiltshire


Dan started work and took the car. I walked up the valley to Upavon to buy food and try to buy a bicycle. Since petrol rationing came in, these are hard to find. I was lucky and found one, the last in a small shed shop. I arranged with the Upavon Garage to go there three mornings a week to learn how to do running repairs on cars. This is necessary if I am to become an ambulance driver. I pedalled home to find Whitaker had spring-cleaned the cottage but was in a great fuss about rats. I shall write to London for a copy of The Wind in the Willows. Perhaps Ratty will help him to like rats.


There are three aerodromes nearby and yellow training planes pass overhead all the time.


12 October 1939 – East Chisenbury, Wiltshire


The kind farmer who lives nearby has lent me his cob for afternoons so that I can teach Whitaker to ride. It is a big, lazy animal with a Roman nose, called Dulcie. Today when I was saddling her Whitaker announced he did not know which end of her frightened him most. Then our troubles began: Whitaker’s legs are so short he could not reach the stirrup to mount, and I found him too heavy for me to give him a ‘leg-up’. We built a pile of logs quite high and from it Whitaker scrambled into the saddle, only to topple off on the other side. After several attempts we set off with Whitaker perched and petrified in the saddle and me holding the bridle. We walked slowly along the cart track which leads to Salisbury Plain and I had a struggle not to laugh; he looked so funny with his fat face stiff with fear, his hair tousled and his mouth screwed into a button. All went well until we turned to go home, when Dulcie made a tremendous fart, plunged forward and departed at a gallop with Whitaker clutching the saddle. I could not run for laughing. When I reached the farmyard I found Whitaker seated on the ground and Dulcie grazing. ‘I made the trip and then slid down its neck,’ he said cheerfully and added, ‘I can assure your Ladyship I did not make that horrible rude noise.’


Dan brought friends from the Gunnery School to dinner and Whitaker excelled himself – when dinner was ready he announced in his best French: ‘Sole à la Shrimpy, Chicken Hellsmere, and Chocolate Manure’.


26 October 1939 – East Chisenbury, Wiltshire


Today it rained so I stayed indoors and Whitaker showed me how to roast a chicken. When he had put it in the oven I sat down on the kitchen table and asked him to tell me what he did before he came to work for Dan’s family twelve years ago.


He was born in Sunderland in 1900 on the night of the relief of Mafeking. He was christened George Gibbon. His father, a shipwright, had ten children and all of his five sons, when they reached the age of fourteen, became apprentices at the same shipyard. When it was George Gibbon’s turn to go he hated it and ran away to London to see the sights. He worked in a bar, a grocer’s shop and delivered laundry.


Eventually he returned home. His family was dreadfully poor and one cold winter his mother cut the legs off all their furniture to make a fire to keep them warm. Soon his father sent him to work on a refrigerator ship, where he stayed until 1917 when he returned home to join the Army. He was too young to go to the Front. When the Armistice came, he deserted and signed on as a greaser in a ship going to America. He worked on various cargo boats travelling between America, Italy and South America but in 1921 he got caught in the big shipping strike and, like many others, found himself without a job. When his money ran out he pawned his watch and some of his clothes and washed dishes in cafés in exchange for meals. He continued to search for a job and ended up in Pensacola playing the piano in a brothel. Eventually he got work on a ship going to England and when it reached port he left it and went to visit his family. He returned to London and became a silver cleaner at the Bath Club but soon, for better wages, he moved to Service Chambers near St James’s Street as a valet. There he met Dan’s stepfather, Lizzie Lezard, who took him on as his personal valet. When he joined our family Dan was fifteen and still at Eton.


As he ended his story Whitaker remarked, ‘The difference between His Lordship and me is that he was brought up and I was dragged up. I’ve had to educate myself in every respect.’ Fascinating, but sad, to think of what Whitaker might have achieved if he had gone to a good prep school, Eton and Cambridge, like Dan. He is talented – intelligent, witty, energetic and a brilliant piano player and cook.


1 November 1939 – East Chisenbury, Wiltshire


Mrs Sparrow has forwarded our mail from London. One letter was from Monty Moore Montgomery:3




Wall Street, New York


10 October 1939


It was perfectly grand hearing from you, Hermione, and I am glad you are doing a job of protecting your virtue, as the Victorians might say. But if you are counting on us Americans to come over and liquidate the stupidities of your post-war British Governments I suspicion you will be disappointed. The feeling here is intense against involvement although sentiment is pro-Ally. Americans, you know, revere sagacity – and there are some of us who think Hitler has the finest brain in Europe, if not in the world today – and that with such a leader Germany is sufficiently powerful to do a lot of unpleasant things if you insist. It would seem foolish to me to go on, killing hundreds of thousands and squandering pounds sterling to the ultimate end of fostering communism in all Europe.


I honestly don’t think you have a chance of defeating Germany, and if you do, the communists will take over.


Of course this does not make pleasant reading, but I must say, after the Baldwins and MacDonalds, etc., you English should enjoy a little realism.


Life here is about as usual, all the night clubs are opening up in new decor, Martinique, Hawaii and other exotic islands – morals are a little freer lest somebody bomb us before we’ve equalled our quota of ecstasy. The theatre has barely opened but swing and symphony are in third speed.


And just so you won’t dislike me too much for my political views, I’d better say that I feel damn sorry for all the poor devils in uniform whatever their nationality is.


If England doesn’t negotiate a peace within six months, I shall be both surprised and shocked. False pride and foolish alliances are no reason for a war – and when it comes to broken promises, well, Hitler may have the high score but England and France are close seconds . . .




13 November 1939 – Brigg, Lincolnshire


Our pleasant month at East Chisenbury is ended. We left that sheltered valley last week and Dan and Whitaker rejoined the Sherwood Rangers at Brocklesby Park, near Grimsby, the home of the Colonel, Lord Yarborough. I have a room in a pub ten miles away. By bus and bike I have searched for a room nearer to Dan without success. This is bleak country with large farmhouses but their owners are unfriendly and refuse to rent a room. Today is my twenty-sixth birthday – no presents or cards because no one knows where I am except Dan who cannot get time off to see me – and Toby who telephoned to ask me to find her a room. She has heard a rumour that no Yeomanry wives will be permitted to go overseas though regular Army wives are allowed.


20 November 1939 – Brocklesby Park, Lincolnshire


The Yarboroughs have invited me to stay for a week while I try to find rooms nearby. Brocklesby is a large house and estate, most of which has been lent to the Yeomanry. My host has his own pack of foxhounds and today I went hunting in borrowed clothes on a troop horse called Number Nine. This is a surprising country to ride over – I came across iron bedsteads, baths and broken chamber pots in the fences. This evening Dan came to tell me it is now official that Yeomanry wives will not be allowed to go overseas. Grannies, sisters, mothers, mistresses and regular Army wives may go – only Yeomanry wives are banned.


28 November 1939 – A Farmhouse in Lincolnshire


I have managed to rent rooms for Toby, Rona Trotter and myself in a big farmhouse. The farmer charges us seven guineas a week each for bed and breakfast. The lavatory is ghastly. We cook our other meals on a small wood fire in my bedroom. Today Dan stole half an hour to come and see me. He told me that when the whole Regiment paraded recently, Whitaker appeared on a large horse in his best pinstripe suit and a tin hat, which caused considerable mirth. No uniform has yet been found big enough to fit him.


1 December 1939 – A Farmhouse in Lincolnshire


Today I went hunting on Dan’s mare – a brilliant jumper. Dan rode Horse Number Nine, which was generous of him because she only jumps with her front legs. A lot of Sherwood Rangers were out including the Padre Hughes4 who goes like a bomb and is most amusing.


On Sundays we walk to church to hear his sermons – we have to start early because such a mass of soldiers attend and even the churchyard gets crowded. My bicycle is our life-line; we take turns to go to the village post-office shop to buy necessities and newspapers. The rest of the time we knit khaki socks and discuss endlessly where the Yeomanry may be sent and how we could follow. There is a leak in the ceiling over my bed and when it rains I get soaked.


Russia has invaded Finland. This awful news reached us tonight. This will be a David v Goliath struggle – the Finns are so brave.


19 December 1939 – A Farmhouse in Lincolnshire


We have won a sea battle off the River Plate.


This morning we watched our host, the farmer, hoovering his cart-horse in the back yard. The horse stood quite still and seemed to enjoy it. Dan had taken my bicycle to Brocklesby in the back of the Buick so that Whitaker could pedal over and see us. Today he came, with Higgs, Toby’s butler, on the rear seat. Their comments on life in the cavalry kept us in fits of laughter: Whitaker said he’s got used to horses and rats now. They departed with little Higgs pedalling and Whitaker, like a balloon, on the back.


21 December 1939 – A Farmhouse in Lincolnshire


Each morning we huddle round my small fire and Toby reads the newspaper out loud while Rona knits and I take down the news in shorthand for practice. ‘The Captain of the German pocket battleship, Admiral Graf Spee, shot himself last night . . . Perhaps he was outraged by Hitler’s order that he should scuttle his ship . . . The Russians are trying to break the Mannerheim Line in Finland. The Finns are fighting brilliantly . . . Admiral Darlan, the Commander-in-Chief of the French Navy, has arrived in England. Mr Chamberlain and Monsieur Daladier are at the Supreme War Council in Paris . . .’ Today that is as far as Toby got because Dan, Dandy Wallace and Henry Trotter arrived – jubilant – to say we are all to get three days’ leave for Christmas. Toby set off at once to join her children. As she left she said, ‘Be brave. This could be embarkation leave.’ I telephoned Hilda from a call box to tell her Dan and I will arrive on Christmas Eve. For all our efforts to be near our husbands we hardly ever see them, so this is marvellous news.


1 January 1940 – A Farmhouse in Lincolnshire


Last night the Yarboroughs gave a New Year’s Eve Dance. Their ballroom looked splendid filled with officers in their Sherwood green tunics with yellow facings and chain epaulettes, and their wives in long, beautiful dresses. I wore my wedding dress with the train chopped off. Toby said, ‘This could be a farewell party.’


Whitaker worked at the bar. I missed just one dance to sit with him on the back stairs and give him a drink. He said to me, ‘If you get separated from His Lordship be sure I’ll stay with him come what may. I won’t desert in this war.’


Cheek to cheek Dan and I danced into the dawn of 1940.


10 January 1940 – A Farmhouse in Lincolnshire


Nancye Yarborough has organised a canteen at Brocklesby Station for the Sherwood Rangers, who are leaving in batches all this week. I bicycled over to help her. We doled out tea and buns on a long trestle table and watched horses being loaded on to the train – some of them were terrified and took ages. Straw had been laid down everywhere to prevent the horses from slipping on the icy roads and platform. There are about 1000 horses to be moved.


It is bitterly cold – the newspapers say, ‘It’s the coldest snap in this country since 1815, the year of Waterloo.’


18 January 1940 – London


Yesterday was our first wedding anniversary. Dan left with the last of the Sherwood Rangers . . . I worked on the cold platform with the other wives – we handed out tea and watched kit bags being loaded. It was torture. Whitaker, looking incredibly fat in his new uniform hung all over with kit, came along the platform to say goodbye. ‘Don’t worry, I will look after His Lordship,’ he said, while I struggled with my laughter and my tears.


The train chugged slowly out of the little station with hands waving from every window. Then I filled our car with all the paraphernalia that Dan and Whitaker were not taking with them and drove away over the frozen roads for London. Halfway down a steep hill I put on the brakes and skidded. The heavy car turned over and buckled both back wheels. It did not seem to matter. I sat on a heap of snow till a car came by and gave me a lift to Grantham Station. When I arrived in London I found Toby and Mrs Sparrow in our flat. They had bought me a bowl of white hyacinths for our wedding anniversary.


This morning, early, the telephone woke me. It was Dan at the port of embarkation. I was surprised and could think of nothing to say until he rang off. He could not tell me where he was – just said it was desperately cold. It seems to be weeks since he left.


Later I telephoned Dan’s friend, Lord Lloyd,5 to ask whether I could get a job with the British Council in the Near East. He was very kind – said he could not do anything unorthodox but the Head of the Middle East Section will be in London soon and if staff are needed there he will tell me. I told Toby about this, but she said that non-regular Army wives are being prevented from going oversees whatever pretext they give.


Tomorrow, with an instructor, I am to drive an ambulance round Central London. I hate driving in gumboots and find it difficult to reverse with a gas-mask round my neck.


25 January 1940 – London


Toby and I have been injected and vaccinated. We have paid our bills, visited the dentist and had permanent waves. I have typed out copies of my secretarial references – from the Spectator, the War Office, and Lord Wakehurst in Government House, New South Wales. I am having paid dictation to accelerate my shorthand and have reached a good speed.


I have been to see Gator Holland, Dan’s Trustee, to ask if we have enough money for me to go to the Middle East. He is a charming man. He explained our poverty position and did not laugh when I said it would be best if I pawned our family jewellery. Also, he promised, should I leave in a hurry, he would redeem the jewellery and take care of Mrs Sparrow. His clerk told us there is a good pawn shop near Victoria Station.


Toby took me to lunch at the Ritz and there we found old Lady Oxford, resplendent in scarlet. She told us cheerfully she intends to stay in London, come what may. Old people are being marvellous: they are well aware they may not see the end of the war and that all their young are at risk, but they ask no quarter – they remain elegant, resolute and charming.


Afterwards I saw Toby off on a train to Scotland – she wants to spend as much time as possible with her children. I returned to our flat to read the newspapers and think. News from everywhere is awful and specially from Poland, where the Nazis are doing most terrible things to the Poles. Even London has changed: huge barrage balloons hover in the sky to keep enemy planes high up; the black-out has encouraged a rash of robberies; and now it is unwise to go out alone after dark. Petrol rationing has made everyone think twice about using their cars; people are buying food to hoard; many houses are empty – their owners being called up or retreated to the country, families and friends are so scattered that telephone directories and address books are now pretty useless, and even if one knows where people have gone it is dangerous to say so. Though we dress well and talk as cheerfully as ever the disguise of our loneliness and anxiety is thin.


Someone has tried to break into our flat. Mrs Sparrow wants me to go and stay with Dan’s Grannie.


28 January 1940 – London


Toby telephoned: she has received a telegram from Dandy. It conveyed that he and the advance party have arrived in Palestine.


Last night the First Lord of the Admiralty, Mr Winston Churchill, made a speech in Manchester. It was stupendous and made me feel quite brave. ‘. . . Come, then: let us to the task, to the battle, to the toil . . . each to our part, each to our station. Fill the armies, rule the air, pour out the munitions, strangle the U-boats, sweep the mines, plough the land, build the ships, guard the streets, succour the wounded, uplift the downcast, and honour the brave. Let us go forward together in all parts of the Empire, in all parts of the Island. There is not a week, nor a day, nor an hour to be lost.’


It’s been snowing. Berkeley Square looks like Gay Vienna. The pipes in our flat are frozen, so I have to go out to wash, etc.


2 February 1940 – London


I had an interview with the British Council Middle East representative, a tall, sallow, sour man, in an over-heated room. He would not read my references and said my name and appearance are a great disadvantage. After a few rather acid remarks he said he will take me on trial as a secretary for three weeks. I must work from 9 a.m. till 9 p.m. – no pay. At the end of that time – if he thinks me suitable – he said it would be easy to get me a visa to go and work in Cairo. I agreed to start work tomorrow. I have no alternative.


7 February 1940 – London


A letter came from Dan dated January 24th.




. . . We left the port yesterday. It was incredibly cold, fourteen degrees of frost one night and a terrible gale. The horses had an awful time – all their rugs were blown off and some of them died of exposure. For twenty-four hours this gale has blown and the noise of crockery being broken and tins rolling about at night is enough to waken the dead. Yesterday I was orderly officer and had to stagger round the ship every hour till midnight. The men who went with the horses had a dreadful journey across France. Since I saw you we have heard no news – we are not allowed to use wireless . . .


It is a fine sight to see six ships steaming three abreast with Destroyers sweeping round them. You must hurry. If Italy comes into the War it will be much more difficult, perhaps impossible, for you to reach us . . .




Last night Rona Trotter telephoned me. She wanted to see me urgently. I set forth in the black-out and found her in a state of wild excitement: she is leaving tomorrow for Palestine. Under vows of secrecy she gave me an address to go to but she made me promise not to use it until she has time to reach her destination by air.


9 February 1940 – London


A letter came from Dan, dated January 29th: ‘We have arrived and our official address is Notts Sherwood Rangers Yeomanry, Palestine. Letters by airmail take about a week.’ I also had a letter from Whitaker. It was completely blacked out by a censor except for ‘My Lady’ at the top. I wonder what he wrote.


Now it is light until 5 p.m., and there are tulips and daffodils on the street barrows. Each evening, after work, I go to see, or I telephone, one or other of our family. I feel dreadfully sad I must leave them.


12 February 1940 – London


Today, again, my boss asked me out – to dine and dance. I made another feeble excuse and refused. Most embarrassing.


In my lunch hour I went to the address Rona gave me. It is a small travel agency – just one room with a man and a typist in it. I explained that I want to go to Palestine, but as Dan is a soldier I come under the War Office ruling on war wives. ‘Don’t look so worried,’ he said cheerfully. ‘That can be arranged.’ He took my particulars, passport and telephone number and told me to get ready to leave at short notice. I asked him if he would help Toby. ‘On no account must you travel together,’ he said. ‘I’ll help her when we’ve got you away. Don’t tell anyone you’ve been here.’


When I got home I found several letters from Dan.




. . . If you go to Cairo I shall never see you. Jerusalem would be nearly as bad because, owing to the Troubles, there is a curfew on the roads. We get only two half days off a week. The rest of the time we work really hard – I was in the saddle for seven hours today and have been out of bed for seventeen. I have written to you every day since we left . . .




I also got a letter from Lord Lloyd offering me a contract to work in Cairo. ‘Our Middle East Representative tells me your shorthand is not fast enough for him, but we can offer you a post as an archivist at three pounds a week.’ I telephoned and thanked him warmly for his help and kindness but turned down the offer and told him why. It seems his Representative is too fast for me in every respect.


17 February 1940 – London


The travel agent telephoned this morning and asked me to go to his office at once. I found he had obtained all necessary papers for me to leave, a transit visa for France and a visa for Egypt. He handed me my tickets from London to Alexandria – and the bill – forty pounds, ten shillings and five pence. He advised me to leave tonight. I asked him what money I should give him for his trouble and how this had been fixed. ‘As you are travelling third class I would be happy with five pounds,’ he said, and added, ‘My brother works in the Passport Office.’ He promised to take care of Toby. We shook hands. ‘Remember there is a strong possibility you may be stopped on the way and returned to England. Send me a postcard of the Sphinx – if you make it,’ he said.


I packed quickly: two suitcases, an overnight bag, my portable wireless, Dan’s Leica and his shotguns in their case. I hid my revolver in my elastic girdle in case one is not allowed to carry fire-arms abroad. Then I telephoned Toby, Cator Holland, Dan’s family and mine and kissed Mrs Sparrow goodbye. Her fierce old face puckered as she fought back her tears.


At Victoria Station I was already petrified of being discovered. I huddled in a corner seat behind the Evening Standard. Now I am on the Channel in thick fog – somewhere between Newhaven and Dieppe. I’ve managed to get a bunk and a blanket. The stewards in the gangway keep chatting about mines. I am filled with fears: of being caught; of drowning; of never seeing our families again; of not reaching Dan; of the war going on for years and years . . .


19 February 1940 – Marseilles


It was snowing when I reached Paris. I sent a telegram to Dan saying ‘I love you’, hoping he will realise from the postmark that I have started. In the evening I continued my journey sitting up in a crowded, wooden-seated carriage.


I arrived here this morning and went straight to the docks. I found my boat but was not allowed to board it – it is held up as it may be turned into a troop ship. Marseilles is full of soldiers and sailors and many are British so I dared not go for a walk or to a cinema in case I be questioned. I have stayed all day in a small dock-side hotel bedroom, reading a paper book lent me by the concierge. It is called Bessie Cotter, and is all about a brothel. Waiting is awful and, to make things worse, the extreme cold has made my nose bleed.


20 February 1940 – Marseilles. Khedivial Mail Steamer – s.s. Mohammed Ali El Kebir


This ship is still delayed but I am on board which is something. There are few other passengers. Meals are a nightmare because I am seated between the Captain and an English Colonel Jackson. Both ply me with questions which I cannot answer truthfully. There seems to be a good chance we may sail tomorrow.


22 February 1940 – s.s. Mohammed Ali El Kebir


I am love-sick, home-sick and now . . . seasick.


23 February 1940 – s.s. Mohammed Ali El Kebir


Today we reached Malta. Two of our destroyers and a submarine passed us as we entered the harbour. Valetta looked lovely in the sunshine: brilliant coloured boats, tugs, and grey warships all around us and yellow stone buildings packed tight up the hill behind the harbour. I went ashore and ran up steep stone steps to the top of the town. The narrow streets were crowded with sailors and soldiers, ponies and donkeys, and merchants calling their wares. I saw a fisherman followed by some twenty cats. I bought a small bunch of freesias which smell wonderful – and a budgerigar in a paper bag – all for two siblings. The Maltese are ugly but they are smiling people so it does not seem to matter.


It is five weeks since I saw Dan. I dread the Customs at Alexandria and wonder if British military check the port and arrivals.


26 February 1940 – Egypt


We docked at Alexandria this morning. When I walked down the gang plank a grand-looking Egyptian official approached me, bowed and led me away by the arm to a different building from the other passengers. I thought, ‘I’m caught.’ In his office I was given a chair and a cup of Turkish coffee while he spoke rapidly and long. I could not understand what he was saying and so just sat and grinned. After a second cup of coffee, more bows, and in spite of my guilty face, he led me off again – this time to the Customs shed where he waved his arms about and I was let through and none of my cases were opened.


I came by train to Cairo. The carriage was filled with Egyptians wearing tarbooshes – they read their newspapers from right to left. It was exciting looking out of the window. I drove from Cairo station to the Continental Hotel in a gharry drawn by two grey ponies. There, on the terrace in his cherry red trousers, I found Robin Stuart French waiting for me. He had got my telegram from Malta asking him to book me a room and contact Dan. He is on sick leave. He introduced me to Freddie Hoffman, the Swiss hotel manager, and I found a telegram from Dan: ‘Rona wants you to stay with her at Rehovoth near Tel Aviv.’ We dumped my luggage, released the budgerigar from my pocket and let it fly round my room, and went to the American Express office who said they could get me a visa for Palestine in a few days.


At dinner Robin talked about his Regiment, the 11th Hussars, which is in the Desert patrolling the Egyptian frontier – ‘where a great wire fence runs for two hundred miles, southwards, from the sea at Solium, along the edge of Libya.’ He told me that the 11th Hussars are using the same old vehicles they had in 1935 during the Italian-Abyssinian crisis. He talked of Mersa Matruh, sand storms, ice cold nights, scorching days and a wind called Khamsin . . . He said, ‘If trouble comes we’ll be dangerously short of men and equipment.’


Robin had a friend going to Palestine tomorrow so I gave him a note to get to Dan by hand – I dared not send a telegram.


28 February 1940 – Cairo


When I asked Robin what Cairo was like he said, ‘A filthy, Frenchy, modern town – an ancient, elegant, primitive city.’ Then he showed it to me.


We went to the Musqi, which is a labyrinth of tiny streets in the poor quarter where are crammed shops of every conceivable kind. We looked at piles of rugs, watched craftsmen tapping out patterns on brass and other metals, stared up at high bales of silks and cottons, explored jewellery shops where many treasures from refugees are on sale, tried some of the perfumes they sell in pretty bottles and laughed at the conversation of the shopkeepers – ‘Sir, Sir, you buy amber grease – will make you powerful lover – you need aphrodisiac seriously, Sir.’


We drove across the city to the museum to see the wonders from Tutankhamen’s tomb: fabulous gold ornaments, alabaster vases, mummy cases, all the magnificence of three thousand years ago. We crossed the Kasr el Nil bridge which is guarded on either side by two great marble lions – Robin said they only smile if a virgin crosses the bridge. Thence to Mena to see the Pyramids and the Sphinx and I bought a postcard to send to the travel agent in London. We drove past the King’s Palace which is surrounded by slums, past the Citadel where once Napoleon’s troops were garrisoned, to the Ibn Touloun Mosque. We crossed its great courtyard and climbed the little haunted minaret from where we could see for miles – the desert, the brown waters of the Nile, the emerald green Delta and this vast city. Next we went to the Sultan Hassan Mosque which has the loveliest ceiling I ever saw: the sky.


Through overcrowded streets, where horse-drawn vehicles, dilapidated taxis, trams hung about with people, army trucks and the seething populace struggle to move around, we made our way past modern stores, luxury flats and piteous dwellings, to Gezirah island where there is a golf course, polo ground and Club House. In Cairo the ancient and the new world, riches and poverty, peace and war, are cheek by jowl. It is a very noisy city.


1 March 1940 – Cairo


This morning I got my visa for Palestine. Robin sent Dan a telegram: ‘Your baggage arrives Rehovoth March 2nd eleven a.m.’


I caught the evening train. In the low sun the glossy green of the Delta and the red brown trunks of the palm trees looked lovely. Peasants were still working on the land, ploughing with oxen and donkeys and driving high-wheeled carts along sunbaked tracks to little towns. Barges and feluccas, laden with bricks and bales, slid along the canals.


We passed a station called Zagazig and soon after reached Kantara where I discovered I must change trains. Porters seized my luggage and waved me to a ferry which took me across the Suez Canal. Hundreds of frogs were croaking. On the other side I found passport officials and Customs. Unfortunately they opened Dan’s gun case and a hullaballoo began in Arabic and broken English. Eventually I convinced them that the guns were for ‘Engleesh Officer’ and was allowed through. In the excitement they forgot to look at the rest of my luggage. I found a seat in a third-class carriage. The coach was filled with Australian soldiers returning to Gaza from a course in Egypt. After an age the train started and just as we left Kantara my budgerigar escaped from my pocket and flew out of the open window into the warm summer night. ‘At home those fly about wild,’ said my neighbour, showing not the slightest surprise. After that we talked about New South Wales – from Bondi Beach to Tibooburra where I once rode in a camel race.


2 March 1940 – Rehovoth, Palestine


Probably because I had sat up all night on a hard seat being serenaded by the Australian soldiers singing ‘Waltzing Matilda’ and ‘We’re the boys from way down under’ I found Palestine in the dawn rather disappointing – it was flat and less colourful than I expected. I ate breakfast on the train and reached Rehovoth at eleven. I climbed out on to sand, hardly daring to believe I was going to see Dan.


I saw him a long way down the train looking up at the carriages. Tall, bronzed by the sun, wearing khaki shorts and tunic, marvellously good-looking . . . I stood and watched him, spellbound. I thought my heart would burst . . . Heaven is being together.




2. Rough Justice


4 March 1940 – Rehovoth, Palestine


I am staying in Rona Trotter’s rented, unfurnished bungalow on the edge of Rehovoth alongside an orange grove which smells wonderful by day but seems creepy after dark. With camp beds, orange boxes, and a table, two chairs and some blankets lent by the Royal Scots Greys’ wives who live nearby, we are quite comfortable. Dan and Henry Trotter are camped at Latrun some distance away. They can come and see us on their two half-days off a week.


The worst of the Troubles in Palestine are supposed to be over but tensions still exist. Rona and I have been warned not to stray off main roads or go out after dusk. There is still risk of roads being mined – rape and murder are not unusual. Even soldiers may go out at night only in pairs. Rona has been given a revolver and we are to have shooting lessons in a quarry.


Today I telephoned the head of the Red Crescent in Jerusalem to ask if I might do voluntary work for them. He told me that secretaries are urgently needed by civil and military establishments in Palestine but there are no needs in Rehovoth. ‘Even if you have a car I think you should not drive alone, and there is the problem of the curfew . . . If you move nearer to Jerusalem or Haifa let me know and we’ll grab you,’ he said kindly.


Two little Scots Greys’ children – Jane Finlay and Caroline Todd – often invite me to play with them: I have been a bridesmaid at their doll’s wedding and a groom in Jane’s ‘zoo’; she has a donkey foal, a young gazelle and a baby camel.


No one here can understand why regular Army wives and their children may live here and Yeomanry wives are forbidden.


8 March 1940 – Rehovoth, Palestine


Last night, when Rona and I were about to go to bed, we heard footsteps approaching the bungalow. We stopped talking, turned off the lights and listened. We heard low voices nearby and, peeping through the slats of our shutters, we saw three figures standing a few yards off.


We waited for them to go away but after a while, to our horror, someone began to tug at our sitting-room shutters. As the shutters loosened and a thin beam of moonlight broadened on our floor I felt terrified, fetched my little Colt revolver, unlocked the front door and strode outside. Shaking with fear I kept my finger on the trigger. Rounding the corner of the bungalow I found myself only a few paces away from three tall men. As soon as they moved towards me I fired, but none of them ran away or fell over – and a very English voice said ‘Goodness, you are a poor shot.’ Then came a burst of laughter.


They walked through our front door and seated themselves on the floor – still laughing – three young Royal Scots Greys’ Subalterns we’d never seen before. Rona, ashen from fright, and I could not even raise a smile. Politely we sent them packing after promising not to tell their Colonel about their stupid spree. They did not seem to register how petrified we’d been or that I might have hurt or killed them.


10 March 1940 – Rehovoth, Palestine


Great excitement – Toby has arrived. She rushed to London after I left and the travel agent got her a visa and an air passage quickly. Nancye Yarborough, Myrtle Kellet, Ann Feversham and a few others are arriving soon, but Toby says no more will come via the travel agent – he’d told her the risk was now too high.


Whitaker in his solar topee and shorts, which have a huge V at the back where he has let in a gusset, is a remarkable sight. His poor face, arms and knees are lobster pink from the sun, but he is wonderfully cheerful. His comments on the Holy Land and its people are very funny and often interesting. He told me that when our troops first arrived they much preferred the Jews because they were easier to converse with, but soon they changed their minds. ‘Take the shops,’ he said. ‘If you go into a Jewish shop and don’t buy something the owners are often rude and sometimes swear at you, whereas Arab shopkeepers generally offer coffee and laugh and say, ‘‘Maybe next time you come you’ll buy something.’’ On the beaches, in swimming clothes, it’s difficult to tell Arab from Jew – both have aquiline noses and thick lips. Did you know that the ones with red hair are said to be descendants of the Crusaders?’


Whitaker has been twice to Tel Aviv and his remarks about the long, lank hair and hypnotic outfits of Hebrew sects do not bear repeating.


12 March 1940 – Rehovoth, Palestine


Dan has bought a Baby Austin car for twenty-five pounds. It has a canvas hood but no radiator cap – just a piece of hose-pipe stuck in the bonnet away from the windscreen so its occupants don’t get scalded when it boils. It boils very often, so a can of water must always be on board. Today, in this splendid vehicle, we set off to see Jerusalem.


We drove between orange groves and on across a plain where crops were tall and green. We passed Dan’s military camp at Latrun and soon after we were stopped and questioned at a Military Police Check Point. Then we began climbing the steep, twisting road through the mountains. This pass must have been hair-raising in the Troubles: there are a thousand hiding places for brigands amongst the rocks and one edge of the road has a sheer drop. We saw no one except for groups of barefoot Arab children who were selling fat bunches of anemone and dwarf cyclamen on the roadside. We filled the rear of our little car with flowers. We boiled twice before we passed the trenches of the First World War and entered Jerusalem by an untidy street of poor shops and garish advertisements. We found our way to the King David Hotel for lunch. It was crowded with Australians. Philip Parbury and some of the 16th Australian Brigade Group gave us a warm welcome.


Afterwards we went on foot to the Old City where the streets are narrow and dirty and the sun makes open doorways and alleys look dark and mysterious. There was a strange musty smell of grain, food and dust, and sometimes the stench of drains or lack of them. We jostled past pack-asses, goats, beggars with flies swarming on their poor eyes and stumps, and people and priests of many nationalities. We went to the Wailing Wall and the Holy Sepulchre and I thought both revolting, and then we went to the Dome of the Rock, shed our shoes and admired. But it was the little Garden of Gethsemane, with its few ancient olive trees and large dog violets, which touched me most. Here, at least, I could imagine Christ pacing up and down, struggling to muster courage to meet His awful fate.


Tonight, with great sadness, we learned that an Armistice has been signed between Finland and Russia. For so long the Finns have struggled to defend their country with inspired daring and courage. The red claws of Russia and the black shirts of Germany now threaten all Europe. If our turn comes I hope we will be as brave and resolute as the Finns.


13 March 1940 – Rehovoth, Palestine


The Sherwood Rangers are moving north to Karkur, near Hederah, so Toby, Rona and I hired a car and went in search of somewhere to live. From Hederah there is only a sand track to Karkur which consists of a few Arab houses, a little Jewish settlement of box-like bungalows, a water tower and a small agricultural school. Except for the view over the plain beyond, where the Yeomanry will camp, it is a dreary place.


The Arab Muktar who met us was most kind but said there was nowhere for us to stay. Just when we were leaving in despair I knocked on the door of one of the Jews’ bungalows. A large, untidy woman came out and gave me the customary ‘Shalom’. She could only speak German or Hebrew. I asked, in my poor German, if she would let me her bungalow. After a lengthy talk with her husband and discussion with some of her neighbours, she agreed to move into a friend’s bungalow and let me hers unfurnished for twelve pounds a month provided her husband could continue to work in their garden. Then and there we drew up an agreement and signed it. While this was going on four of her neighbours offered their bungalows on the same terms to Toby and Rona who jumped at this and signed for all four – one for each of them and the others for Nancye Yarborough and Dotty Morse. Then we emptied the sand from our shoes, shook hands, shalomed and drove away – jubilant.


This evening Toby and I went over to the Rehovoth Agricultural School. We saw cows feeding on oranges. The Director of the School told us Rehovoth is one of the old Pica settlements established by Baron Edmund de Rothschild of Paris. These early Jewish settlers lived on friendly terms with their Arab neighbours.


16 March 1940 – Rehovoth–Karkur


Today Whitaker and I loaded our luggage and his, and the camp beds, on to the Baby Austin and set off for Karkur. Whitaker clutched our Primus stove on his lap. The little car was so over-loaded it could only go at twenty-five miles an hour. En route we stopped in Tel Aviv where I bought a wooden bed and mattress, four upright canvas garden chairs, and a table to eat off – all for under fifty pounds. Whitaker saw an upright ‘honky tonk’ piano in the furniture store and went mad and hired it. These will all be delivered tomorrow to Karkur. We stuck twice in the sand track before we reached Karkur and had to get out and push. We found Elsa, my landlady, had cleared and cleaned her bungalow. She asked me if she might clean and cook for me regularly for a little more money and I agreed.


The bungalow has two rooms, a small kitchen, bathroom and loo. Its walls are white, yellow tiles cover the floor and I’ve bought enough blue sail cloth to make curtains. Whitaker and I lit the bath heater and prepared dinner after we’d driven back to Hederah to buy stores from the NAAFI. We were tired and rather proud of our progress, but when Dan arrived he was too exhausted to notice anything: the Sherwood Rangers had a terrible two days getting here. Now Dan and Whitaker are gone to their tents in camp and I am alone – stitching curtains and listening to the night serenade of frogs and crickets, and the eerie howls of pye dogs.


Dan said it was a fine sight – seeing the Regiment parade by squadrons below Latrun and file away across the plain. Each man carried a forage net, a nose bag, and rations for two days. They rode all morning, plagued by flies and halted at noon for lunch in a narrow lane with a hedge on one side and a line of trees on the other. Dan had dismounted and given his troop the order to take bits out and prepare to water when suddenly, without the slightest warning, two squadrons of horses, which were standing in a rise beyond him, charged down the track at full gallop. Dan flung himself into a ditch. They swept by like an avalanche; some of them crashed headlong into two army trucks which were parked in the lane, others hit the telegraph poles which fell like nine-pins and, as they passed, Dan’s troop broke loose and went with them. When the dust cleared Dan saw an incredible scene of destruction – injured men, dead horses and a tangle of equipment lay everywhere and, far away, a moving trail of dust showed the horses were still racing madly on. Doctor Brooke, who had been dressing a soldier’s foot in the middle of the lane, had a marvellous escape; when he saw the horses charging down on him he flung himself over his patient and the whole cavalcade passed over him. Neither of them was hurt.


They collected the casualties and then set off on foot to find the horses. It took ages. Some had gone back to Latrun; some are still lost. Dan found his chestnut mare covered with blood – all the skin torn off her shoulders and flanks. She had galloped through a barbed-wire fence. But many other horses were worse and several had to be shot. Gradually the Regiment reassembled and started out again. When evening came they put down horse lines and bivouacked. A special watch was kept in case of more trouble. To add to their anxiety, storks, which are in migration, kept landing on the nearby power cables and burning in blue flames. Dan put his bed two hundred yards from the horse lines and went to sleep. He was woken by the thunder of hooves. It was terrifying – in the dark he could not see which way they were coming till one horse crashed into the cook-house tent and sent it up in flames. The poor cook had both his legs broken.


No one knows what caused these stampedes. Some think there may be a mad horse which is the ring-leader. But the fact is that at some indefinable signal a hundred horses will move as one, and nothing will stop them. The Cheshire Yeomanry, who are right up at Acre in the north, have had the same trouble; some of their horses stampeded and plunged over a cliff into the sea. Whitaker says this is all caused by the Holy Ghost.


26 March 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


Every week Toby and I bump over the sand-track to buy stores, fruit, vegetables and amaryllis lilies, from the NAAFI in Hederah. Sometimes we go to one or other of the lovely little beaches for a swim. We listen often to radio news – in English from Jerusalem, and French from Beirut. Most of the wives and many of the Yeomanry are reading the Bible – partly for religion and partly as a guide book for Palestine.


I dislike the Jewish habit of touching a small strip fixed on the edge of front doors of houses, shouting ‘Shalom’ and then walking straight in to all the rooms. Today I was seated on the lavatory when I heard a ‘Shalom’ and my doors being opened and suddenly the lavatory door was flung wide and a Jewish vendor thrust a tray of boot laces at me. Only when I promised to buy some did he retreat to my bedroom and let me finish my business.


1 April 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


We all long for letters from home, but when they arrive they are so often marked with the black slashes of censors. Here we all exchange our news hoping, from each other’s fragments, to piece together a picture of how it is in England. Poor Tony Herbert told me today that, in his last letter from home, he learned that the lawns at Wilton have been ploughed up. We write home often but our news must seem frivolous when we can only say we have visited Jerusalem or been swimming on a lovely beach. One good thing: as each Yeomanry is raised from one neighbourhood in England, all ranks can share news with interest.


7 April 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


At last we may work. Now wives are allowed to drive in pairs to help in shifts at the Soldiers’ Rest Camp on the edge of Haifa. We dole out tea, orangeade and buns. It is hot standing by the big urns. There is a wireless, a small library and a lot of games in the canteen. I have also become part-time secretary to Mrs Pollock, wife of the District Commissioner, who is head of the Red Crescent in this area. She was desperate for secretarial help.


As we drive to and from Haifa, we see Arab women sauntering along with pitchers on their heads – barefoot boys piping music as they watch their flocks – and camels so laden with fresh-cut crops that only their heads and hooves show under their burdens. We see Arabs threshing, clustered around a primitive wheel turned by a blindfold ox – and elders squatting in triangles of shade on street corners, wagging their long beards and tongues. And, so often, we see Arab men riding their donkeys with their poor wives walking behind carrying unbelievable loads. It all looks peaceful and slow but in this small country whose inhabitants look so alike except for their clothes there are opposite approaches to life – two different speeds and two quite different religions. Sooner or later there must be more Troubles between Arabs and Jews. Most of the land seems to belong to Arabs.


10 April 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


Germany has attacked Norway – suddenly, and surreptitiously. We are stunned by this news. With Finns and Danes already out of the conflict I wonder what the Swedes will do. Surely they can’t stay neutral. Our soldiers and sailors will have a difficult task to help the Norwegians whose coast line is so long and jagged and whose land is covered in snow. We are dreadfully worried for Europe.


20 April 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


From my window I can see the long horse lines of the Sherwood Rangers shimmering in the heat haze and the little figures of our Yeomen hurrying about their work. We all know that there is no place for horse cavalry in modern war and we all hate being useless and far away at such a time, yet morale is extraordinarily high. Perhaps fury rather than fear is keeping us sane. Whitaker says there is not a man in the camp who thinks that Hitler could ever conquer us.


13 May 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


Dan had three days’ leave for Whitsun so we set off for Beirut at the Baby Austin’s maximum speed of forty-five miles per hour. We drove northwards along the coast road, through Haifa where white houses are wedged on the side of Mount Carmel, past the domes and minarets of Acre to Ras el Naquora, the frontier post. On and on we crawled through sleepy Syrian villages, past terraced vineyards and lovely beaches where cattle stood, cooling themselves, on the edge of the sea. Over pot-holed roads and cobbled streets we arrived at the St George Hotel and civilisation, tired but excited and happy.


Next morning we explored delightful shops filled with French fashions, patisseries and perfume. In the afternoon we went to the cedar-lined racecourse where Dan backed six winners. The crowd was intriguing: chic French women in hats; fat pashas smoking hookahs in the shade; dapper French officers, sailors, Spahis and Foreign Legion. General Weygand, a tiny man covered in medals, walked over from the Residence on the far side of the course to watch the races.


In the evening, when we were dancing happily on the moonlit terrace of a night club by the sea, a Frenchman told us that Germany has invaded Holland, Belgium and Luxemburg and that Mr Churchill has taken over from Mr Chamberlain as Prime Minister. Dan thought perhaps he was drunk.


16 May 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


At first we were sure the Germans could not advance far, that the Allies would counter-attack and drive them back but – in less than a week – after heroic but hopeless resistance, Holland has laid down her arms. Belgium and France, next on Hitler’s hideous menu, are now in real trouble and so is our British Army. We listen to the wireless incessantly and each day our hopes are shattered. With dreadful monotony we hear of parachute landings, air bombardments, refugees, the Germans always advancing . . . The size and speed of the German thrust grows hourly more apparent and horrifying. Standing, sweating, behind the big urns in the Rest Camp Canteen I felt so sorry for the soldiers: no one whistled, laughed or even talked much; the books, games and the gramophone stayed in the cupboard today. On our way home, I wondered how Elsa and our neighbours think; they never comment on the news and, of course, we can’t understand their Hebrew and German conversations. Toby is so near to tears she can hardly speak – she is so worried for her children. Each day, with shaky hands, we mark and re-mark our maps of Europe.


20 May 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


Winston Churchill, now Prime Minister, has made another broadcast. It gave us a clear understanding of the gravity of the hour and of his absolute belief in the British people – that we will never surrender. His news was petrifying but I felt braver for his words. Whitaker came up to the bungalow. He, too, had taken courage from Mr Churchill. We had a chat before his bath and he looked over the top of his spectacles and said, ‘My Lady, the likes of me believe we will win this war, somehow, someday. I think it would help all our “hesprits du corpses” if you and His Lordship gave a Ball in this bungalow – just like they did before Waterloo.’ I agreed. When he’d gone back to camp I locked the doors, pulled the curtains and wept till I fell asleep.


23 May 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


The Germans are in Brussels. General Weygand, recalled from the Levant, is now French Commander-in-Chief. It is Whitaker’s Birthday.


Whitaker stole time to help me prepare for the ‘Ball’. First we killed the scorpions and tarantulas which lurk round our trash-cans at the back door. Then we moved most of our possessions, except for the Upright Piano and set them down on the sand track behind our bungalow. We rigged up a buffet in the small kitchen, a bar in the bathroom and cleared our two rooms. We drove several times to Hederah to buy food and drink, borrow glasses, plates and a few more folding chairs.


The ‘Ball’ went well: our Colonel and most of the officers came and all ‘illegal wives’ in their best dresses. Whitaker brought friends to man the buffet, the bar and the band. He is a brilliant ‘Honkey Tonk’ pianist and he fairly let go with all our favourite tunes from the thirties. Our 	“hesprits du corpses” soared and soon the party extended all along the sand tracks of the little settlement with soldiers, Arabs, Jews and pye dogs joining in in their different ways. It was long after midnight when Whitaker played ‘God Save the King’ and the settlement and the camp went to bed.


29 May 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


The news from France is petrifying. The Belgian Army has capitulated.


At last a few letters have arrived from home. One was from Aunt Puss6 who wrote from Sussex on May 17th. She is still Lady-in-Waiting to Queen Mary. She must have sent it in the diplomatic bag because its postmark is Jerusalem.




I know what an agony of anxiety you must be going through, far away. Events have indeed moved fast since last I wrote.


Here it is incredibly lovely and it is hard to realise that so near the ghastly struggle is going on. From all accounts our Air Force has performed prodigies – our machines and pilots are immensely superior to the Germans, but our numbers are so small. I lunched with the Household at Buckingham Palace two days ago and met the ADC and Lady-in-Waiting to Queen Wilhelmina – who had just arrived – and heard the story of their departure from Holland, without even a toothbrush. They were in a dug-out during a raid when news came that they must leave The Hague. They started off for a port – I think the Hook – and the convoy of cars was bombed; when they got to the quayside a British destroyer was waiting; it was bombed as they arrived but without damage. The Queen’s intention was to go to one of the Islands, but owing to the terrific bombing they decided to come to England. The ADC told me he did not know where his wife and family were.


Here the preparations to meet parachute troops are being hurried on, and the Fifth Column rounded up – I only wish they’d intern alien women as well as men. There must be a great deal of spying here – I don’t doubt lots of the refugees were, in a number of cases, women who had been in service or positions of some sort in Holland and knew exactly where important points were. It is quite true some were dropped dressed as nuns. Many of the parachutist men who were wounded proved to be boys of only fourteen and sixteen.


By the time this reaches you much will have happened: pray God the German advance will have stopped. General Carton de Wiart, who was in Norway, said the German organisation and equipment are marvellous but the men inferior to the 1914 German Army. This must tell in a short time . . .7


P.S. I saw Lord Hardwicke yesterday, just back from Italy. He said the anti-ally demonstrations are all organised, that the five heads of the great corporations are in German pay – the people loathe the Germans but the strangle-hold of the Fifth Column is terrific. He dunks it fifty-fifty whether Italy comes in or not. He had a horrid experience in a café – was clouted over the head by a bunch of thugs . . . eventually he was released but the Italian who was with him, and tried to defend him, was murdered next day.




3 June 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


Desperate fighting is going on in France. The French and British Armies are now in terrible danger. In the canteen, in the camp, in our bungalows, in the newspapers and on the wireless one word is holding us spellbound – DUNKIRK. Our prayers, thoughts and talk pivot on this word. And as we wait, aghast, for news through the long hours and days there is not one of us who would not be in England now . . .


4 June 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


The fourth of June. I woke and thought of Eton, pretty clothes, and strawberries and cream . . .


I hardly dare write this down: it now seems just possible that in spite of appalling danger and difficulty, most of our troops and many Frenchmen, too, are being snatched from the shores of France in ships and small boats and taken to England. But Dunkirk must fall soon – horribly soon.8


11 June 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


‘The Italians have declared war and we are evacuating Norway . . .’ I switched off my wireless and walked down the sand track to Toby’s bungalow. Elsa’s Alsatian snarled as I passed and I thanked God he is kept on a chain. Big ants and spiders hurried into the brown grass as I approached and I kept an eye out for scorpions. I thought of the war in the blue-green water a few miles away – the Mediterranean which is a gauntlet now. And my Mother? Switzerland is nearly encircled by our enemies.


Toby pushed open her fly-netted door and I said, ‘Shalom.’ Her floor was covered with maps and her eyes were filled with tears. Then began the dreadful discussion we’ve been having for days: should she stay with Dandy or return to her children? With difficulty I made myself say I think she should return to her children. I did not add that this may no longer be possible.


14 June 1940 – Karkur, Palestine


The Germans are in Paris. In a fury I wrote to Monty Moore Montgomery in New York – reversing his letter to me as well as I could remember:




It was perfectly grand hearing from you, Monty, and I am glad you are busy equalling your quota of ecstasy as the Mad-hatters might say. But if you are counting on us British to ask quarter, or cry surrender, I suspicion you will be disappointed. The feeling here is intense against Nazi-ism and sentiment has gone overboard. The British, you know, revere freedom and all of us think Churchill is the finest man in Europe – if not in the world today – and that, with such a leader, England will do a lot of unpleasant things to Germany as Hitler insists. It would seem foolish to me to stay neutral when such a straight fight is going on between good and evil. And just so you won’t dislike me too much for my views I’d like to say I feel damn sorry for all the neutrals who, while others face the music, hope they may stay safe. Their turn will come. Of course this does not make pleasant reading but I must say you Americans need to enjoy a little realism. Our people will always fight for freedom and never surrender to tyranny. If America does not join our struggle soon I will be both shocked and surprised. Life here is not usual: the new decor is khaki – we’ve forgotten exotic islands and night clubs – sirens and search-lights are in third speed. And so farewell to politics. After the war we will meet you in the Ritz Bar in Paris, to celebrate the downfall of Hitler and talk of happy things.
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